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JUDGMENT 

Dayaratne, JA 

Case against the Appellants in the High Court 

[1] The Respondent in AAU 122 of20 15 (herein afterreferred to as the' I" Accused') 

and the Appellant in AAU 123 of 2015 (herein after referred to as the '2nd 

Accused') were charged in the High Court on two counts, 

[21 The 1" Accused was charged with importing 29,9 Kilograms of heroin without 

lawful authority cOIltrary to section 4( I) of the Illicit Drugs Act 2004 and the '2nd 

Accused was charged \vith engaging in dealing with the 1" Accused for the 

importation of 29,9 Kilograms of heroin without lawful authority contrary to 

section 5( b) of the micit Drugs AC12004. 

[3] By his judgment dated 10 Septcmber 2015 the learned High Court Judge acquitted 

the 1" Accused' of the said charge while the 2"u Accused was convicted of the 

charge against him and was sentenced to 15 y~ar5 imprisonment with a non parole 

period 0 f 14 years, 

Application for leave to appeal 

[4] The State filed a timely application tl)r leave to appeal against the acquittal of the 

I st Accused while the 2nd Accused also filed a timely application tor leave to 

appeal against the conviction and sentence. 

[5J The State has been granted leave to appeal on tnree grounds of appeal while the 

2n~ Accused has been granted leave to appeal OIl a sole ground of appeaL 

[6] Both appeals are cOllsolidated and the parties have agreed that they will be bound 

by one judgment a f this court, 
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Respondent in AAU 122 0(2015 absent and unrepresented 

[71 v,zhen Appeal bearing No. AAU 122 of 2015 was taken up before this court on 3 

July 2023, the Respondent (hereinafter referred to as the '1" Accused') was not 

present and Messrs Iqbal Khan Associates who had represented him at the Trial in 

the High Court, at the hearing before the single judge and the hearing before the 

full court in May 2021 too were not present. Court directed the Registry to issue 

notices on the 1 " Accused and Messrs Iqbal Khan Associates and infoffiled State 

Counsel and the teamed counsel for the Appellant in Appeal bearing No. 113 of 

2015 that the hearing will be taken up on 10 July 2023. 

[8] On 10 July 2023 also, the 1" Accused was absent and Mr. Fa appeared on behalf 

of Messrs Iqbal Khan Associates and informed court that they do not have any 

instructions from the 1" Accused. The Registry informed court that it was not 

possible to serve notice on the pI Accused since his whereabout are not known. 

Court having expressed its displeasure at the conduct of Messrs [qbal Khan 

Associates in not taking any meaningful steps to either represent the 1 Sf Accused 

or withdraw from representing the 151 Respondent. infom1ed Mr. Fa to convey to 

Messrs Iqbal Khan Associates to take steps to HIe an application to withdraw from 

representing the 1 st Accused if it did not have illstntctions from the ]'1 Accused. 

The hearing was re-fixed for 12 July 2013. 

[9] When these matters were taken up on 11 July 1023, it was brought to our attention 

that Messrs Iqbal Khan Associates had filed Summons for leave to withdraw as 

solicitors for the 1" Accused supported by an affidavit on II July 2023. Having 

perused the said documents and having heard Mr.Fa who represented Messrs. 

[qbat Khan Associates in support of the application to withdraw as well as the 

teamed Stare Counsel for the State. this court decided to allow the application for 

withdrawaL 
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Application of the State to proceed with the hearing in the absence of the 1" 
Accused 

[l0] Court thereafter heard learned State COllnsei who moved that the appeal of tile 

State be taken up for hearing in the absence of the I" Accused. 

[1 I] Court was satisfied that; 

(a) the 1 ,( Accused was aware that an appeal against acquittal was pending in 

this court and on his instructions Messrs Iqbal Khan & Associates 

represented him at the hearing of the appeal on 15 September 2022, 

(b) according to the allidavit dated 10 July 2023 which has been submitted by 

Mr. Iqbal Khan in support of his motion to withdraw as solicitor f()r the I" 

Accused, the I" Accused had on or about 15 September 2022 taken away all 

bis documents from the office of Mr. Khan and that he has had no 

instructions from the I" Accused thereafter. 

(c) modern means of communication would have enabled him to provide 

instructions to his legal advisers in Fiji should he have chosen to do so. 

(d) the I" Accused's behavior suggests that be has voluntarily elected not ((1 

C);CrC1Se his right to be heard in this appeal either in person or througb 

counseL 

(e) the Court of Appeal Act and Rules do not require that a respondent attends 

in person. 

(I) given the nature of Ilppellate proceedings there is no disadvantal!.e to the I" 

Accused since he is not entitled to give or call evidence, 

(g) the issue in this appeal is principillly whether the teamed trial judge fell into 

an error of law. 

(h) this appeal concems a serious ofl:cnce of importation of a large quantity of 

heroin into Fiji and the other accused Ethan Kat has been sentenced to 15 

years imprisonment 

(i) appeals should be heard within a reasonable time, 

U\ this appeal is to be heard along with AAU 123iJ 5 and the rigJ1ts of the 

appeJlant in that appeal will be affected if there is a prolonged delay m 

taking up these matters for hearing, 

4 



(k) this court will consider all points that can properly be taken in favour of 

the I" AcclIsed and will take into consideration the matters stated in the 

wTitten submissions that had been previollsly filed on his behalf. 

[I 2] Accordingly, the court was ofthe unanimous view that this matter should be taken 

up for hearing in the absence of the 1 ,t Accused and court proceeded to hear 

submissions of learned counsel. 

Consideration of tbe appeal filed by the State - AAU 122 of 2015 

[ 131 The appeal by the State is against the acquittal of the 1 st Accused. 

[14] At the hearing before this court, learned counsel for the State informed court that 

the State was relying only on the first two grounds of appeal. They are; 

Ground 1. That the learned Trial judge erred in law andjact in acquitting [he 
respondent of importing 29.9 kilograms of heroin without hrwful authority 

COIltrary to section 4 (I) of Ihe Illicit Drugs Control Act 20(U when if was not 

reasonably open ro him 10 do so having regard to in particular to the fClet that the 
Learned Trial judge convicted the respondent's co-accused Ethan Kat. ql 

engaging in dealings with the respondent for the import qllhe same 29.9 
kilograms of heroin '. 

Grollnd 2, That the learned TrialJudge erred at paragraph 33 a/his Judgment il1 
misconstruing the admitted facls as an admission by the prosecution that the 
content of Ihe respondent's cau/ioned interview was true whereas the admission 
went on~v to [he admissibility of the ca!llioned interview. The weight to be 
atrached 10 the conte11l of rhe cllutioned inten'iew was a mailer far the Learned 
Trial Judge and by treating the exculpatory martel's il1lhe cautioned interviews as 
uncontested the Learned Trial .Judge attached undue weight to the exculpatory 
mailers thereby giving rise 10 tI miscarriage (~t:iuslice '. 

(15] As submitted by the State, the first ground of appeal of the State mirrors the sale 

ground of appeal of the 2nd Accused and hence, I will deal with the submissions 

made by learned State Counsel in respect of that ground when dealing with the 

submissions made by learned counsel for the 2nd Accused (who is the Appellant in 

AAU 12301'2015) in order to avoid repetition. 
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[t 6J I will first deal with the second ground of appeal of the State, 

I: 17] The main contention of the State is that the trial miscarried as a result of a 

fundamental error made by the learned trial judge by misdirecting the assessors, 

She contended that the trial judge in his slUnming up had directed the assessors to 

consider the contents oj' the I" Accused's caution interview as facts proved 

beyond reasonable doubt. [n the summing up be has said 'You are allowed 10 

consider the contents 1!f' the caution il7lerview as Ihe facts proved beyond 

reasonable doubt in respecT of Ihe ./11',\'/ count (at paragraph 221 ), 

1181 The learned State Counsel submitted that this misdirection resulted in depriving 

the proseclltion of a fair trial and hence the trial was miscarried, She submitted 

that it was thus a pure question of law that this court was required to look into, 

The purpose of a summing up 

[191 Appellate courts have time and again set uown what a trial judge should cover 

in a Slimming up a.~ well as the consequences of a misdirection or an 

inadequate direction, 

[20] T~e Supreme Court in State v Li .Iun 120081 F.ISC 18, CAVOOI7.2007S (13 

October 2008): discussed the purpose of a summing up and what it ought to 

contain. Court cited the following passage from the case of RPS v The Oueen 

(2000) 199 CLR 620. 637; 

'It is as well to say something more general ahout the difJlculr (ask 
rria/judges have in givingjul'ies proper instructions, The fundamental 
task (if a Irial judge is of' course to ensure (/ fail' frial o{ the accused 
ThaI will require the judge to instrllct the jWy ahout so much rd'the 
law a, they need to know in order (0 dispose olthe issues in the case, 
No doubt thai will require instructionl' ahout the elements of the 
otJimee the burden and standard o(pro(!/' and the r/!speclive lime/iOns 
of judge and jury, Suhject [() any applicahle statulory provisions il will 
require rhe judge to ident(fY {he issues irf Ihe case and to relme the law 
/0 those issues, [I wil/require the judge 10 pU/felirly be/i)re the jury the 
case which the ilccuyed makes " 

6 



[21] The Supreme Court went on to state that: 

The fimction (if the summing lip is to tell the assessors what are the 
issues offact on which they have 10 make up their minds in order 10 
determine whether Ihe accused is guilty of an ojfence.·_ R v l'vfowall 
[1968] I QB 421. 426. per Diplock U cited by Me Hugh J. in 
Fingleton v R {20051216 AIR 474 /79/. While the course o/the trial 
may have contributed to the form q{ the summing up in this case, a 
trial fudge must be astute /0 secure for the accused a fair trinl 
according to law. This involves ..... an adequate direction both as fo 
the law and fhe possible use (d' the relevant facts upon which any 
mailer upon which the jury could in the circumstances of the case 
upon the material be/ore them find or base a verdict in whole or in 
part'. 

[22] The 1" Accused had made a caution interview ami the State was entitled to 

produce it in evidence at the (lia] since COUlt had held thut it had been made 

VOluntarily consequent to a voir dire inquiry. 

[23] However, a number of facts had been admitted between the parties pursuant to 

Section 135 of the Criminal Procedure Act and thut included the caution interview 

of the 1" Accused as well. Thus the caution interview too bad been considered as 

an admitted (act. 

[24J The State submits that by misapprehending that the prosecution accepted the truth 

of the I" Accused's protestations of ignorance/innocence, the trial judge denuded 

the 'trial' of the very essence of a taiT trial under the adversarial system of 

criminal justice, 

[25] The State also takes up the position that since the I" Accused did not elect to give 

evidence at the trial and has entirely relied on the exculpatory parts in his caution 

interview as his defence, it was incumbent on the trial judge to deal with the 

contents of the caution interview with utmost caution. 

[26] In summary, the State submits that there was overwhelming evidence against the 

1'l Accused as can be gleaned from the summing up of the trial judge himse1t: but 

having formed an erroneous view that the contents of the caution interview have 

been proved beyond reasonable douht on account of it being an admitted fact. the 
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learned trial judge has concluded that a reasonable doubt has been created in the 

prosecution's case against (he 1" Accltsed. 

[271 The Slate points out that a perusal of his summing up reveals that the trial judge 

had dearly arrived at tenain findings of guilt against the 1" Accused. 

[28] It was also submitted that he had also correctly observed that the evidence in order 

to establish knowledge on the pan of the I" Accused with regard to the contents 

of the cargo containing heroin, was circumstantial in nature. The State admitted 

that the prosecution in fact had relied on circumstantial evidence to impute 

knowledge on the J" Accused. 

[29] A perusal of the summing up of the trial judge reveals that he has arrived at the 

conclusion that the prosecution had proved beyond reasonable doubt that the I;t 

Accused was the consignee of the container in question and the cargo found 

therein (para 119 of the summing up and para 31 of the judgmentl. 

1301 However. in arriving at a conclusion as to whether the I" Ac..:used had knowledge 

of the contents of the cargo, he has relied on the exculpatory version as contained 

in the caution interview and arrived at a conclusion that there was a reasonable 

doubt as to whether he knew oftbe actual namre of the contents, 

[311 It is imponanl to emphasize here that by admitting the caution interview as an 

admitted fact, the prosecution was not conceding the contents thereof as the truth 

or' as having been proven beyond reasonable doubt. 

[32J The contents of the caution interview had to be taken into consideration together 

with the rest of the evidence placed before court by the prosecution. [t was 

thereafter that a decision could have been arrived at as to whether the evidence 

taken as a Whole was sufficient to prove the guilt of the accused beyond 

reasonable doubt. This was the task of the assessors and the trial judge had to 

make a proper direction to the assessors in this regard and direct himself as well in 

arriving at his ultimate conclusion, 
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[331 A perusal of the summing up and the judgment of the learned High Court judge 

reveals that this has not been done. As pointed out by the State. there certainly has 

been a misdirection on the part of the learned trial judge with regard to the effect 

of the caution interview of I <l Accused and that dearly appears to have had a 

significant bearing on the opinion of the assessors and the ultimate decision of the 

High Court Judge. 

[34 J Learned State Counsel submitted that the trial judge's inexplicable error in his 

approach to the 1" Accused's caution interview cannot be brushed aside as 

inconsequential or a mere technicality, 

[35] She further subll1itted that this error red to the learned judge's reasons for 

disagreeing witb the guilty opinions of two assessors and agreeing with the other 

two assessors that the I" ACCllsed was not guilty, 

[361 The State also takes up the position that the error had resulted in a miscarriage of 

justice because. had the learned judge properly assessed the exculpatory 

statements in the context of the totality of the evidence. he could not have 

reasonably concluded that the I" Accused's excuses may have been tfitthfu!. 

[37] How a jury should be directed to consider 11 statement which contains exculpatory 

as well as inculpatory matters was dealt with in the case of R v Sharp (19881 1 

AU ER 65 by the House of Lords. They considered a series of cases which dealt 

with this issue and ultimately decided that the view expressed in R v DUllcan 

(1981) 73 Cr Aoo R 359. CA was the most appropriate and should therefore be 

followed. 

{38] Lord Lane CJ said in the case of Duncan stated that; 

'Where a mixed statement is under consicieralion by the Jury in (J case 
where the d'!timdanl has not given evidence, if seems to us that Ihe 
simpleST, and (heretore, the method most likely {() produce a just resul!. is 
for the jw:r 10 be tuld Ihat {he whole s!c[lement, both the incriminating 
pariS Clnd the excuses or explanations, must be considered by them in 
deciding where the {ruth lies. II is, EO ,my the least, not helpful to fIJI 1(1 
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explain 10 the jUly that the exculpatory parrs or/he stulemenl are 
something less than evidence vf the facts they stuie. EqualZv. where 
appropriate, as it usually will be, Ihejudge may, and should, point 0111 thar 
the incriminating parts are likeZv to be true (otherwise why say litem?), 
whereas the excuses do nol have rhe same weighr, Nor is {here any reason 
why, again where appropriaw, the judge should not <:ommenl in relalion /0 

fhe ('xculpalOlY remarks upon the election of the acclIsed /'lot to give 
evidence " 

[39] In the light of the above, there is no doubt that the direction of the learned High 

Court Judge was erroneous and amounted to a misdirectIon on a materIal aspect. 

[401 In spite of the absence of the I st Accused during the proceedings before this C01l11, 

it is illcumhent on us to comider all matlers that annul'c to his benefit. I will also 

pay heed to the matters adverted to in the wri ltcn submissions that had been filed 

on his behalf by his then solicitors on record Iqbal Khan & Associates dated 

September 20ll and the written submissions filed at the leave hearing, 

141] it has been submitted in the said written submissiolls that the prosecution had to 

prove beyond reasonable doubt that the 1" Accused had knowledge that the 

container in question contained heroin. [t has also been submitted that tbe I" 

Accllsed had no knowledge of the contents that were found in the said container 

and that he had, at the tirst avai lable opportunity stated so to the clistoms ofticer. 

[421 [t is further contended that the prosecution had admitted the caution interview as 

an agreed fact and hence the version of the 1st Accused was an honest account 

and that the High Court was correct in relying on the contents of the caution 

interview. [ am however unable to agree with the said submission. 

143] Several authorities too had beett cited with regard to the determination of 

pqssessioll in illicit drugs cases and it has been emphasized that the ]'1 Accused 

did not have possession Of knowledge of the heroin in the container, 

[441 It is clear that the error as pointed out by the State and discussed in detail above 

was so fundamental that it had contributed in no smail measure to the ultimat!: 
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outcome of the case against the I" Accused and tainted the entire proceedings to 

the detriment of the prosecution. 

[45] As can he gleaned from the summing up and the judgment of the leamed High 

Court Judge, the alleged reasonable dOUbt which resulted in the ultimate acquittal 

of the I" Accused stemmed from that fundamental misdirection of the leamed 

High Court Judge. 

[461 The State has rightly sought a new trial consequent to the quashing of the acquittal 

on the basis that the trial has been miscarried. [am in agreement with that 

submission and hold that the acquittal of the I" Accused should be quashed and a 

new trial be held. 

Consideration of the Appeal of the 2nd Accused (Appellant in AAU 123 of 
2015) 

[471 The sole Ground of Appeal of the 2nd Accllsed (Appellant in AAU 123 of 2015) 

w~s as follows; 

'Thai the Leamed Trial Judge erred in law in jinding the Appellant guil(v 
lifler a Not Guilty verdict was uphe/djiJr his co-accused, in particular as 
an element of the <?tfimcf! was dependent on Mohammed Shahe!!d '.I' guilt '. 

[48] It must be mentioned here that the first ground of appeal of the State in their appeal 

was also on the same lines, Le. that the verdicts were inconsistent 

[491 As borne out from the above. the position taken up by the 2nd Accused in his 

appeal before this court is that the two verdicts are logically inconsistent and that 

as a result the verdict is unreasonable. 

[501 In order to press his point that the two verdicts are logically inconsistent and that 

as a result the verdict is unreasonable. learned counsel for the 20d Accused 

su,bmitted that there was a fundamental omission in the summing up of the trial 

judge in that he failed to direct the assessors on the legal consequence of fmding 

the 1" Accused not guilty and its impact on the 2nd Accused. 
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t 511 He pointed out that the non direction to the a~sessors has resuhed in a miscaniage 

of j ll~ticc, 1 am in agreement with kamed counsel for the 2"" Accused that a 

detenuinatioll as to whether there was a non direction by the learned High Court 

Judge as referred to above, is critical to the determination of inconsistent verdicts, 

Therefore, although there is no separate ground of appeal to that elIee!. it becomes 

necessary for this court to look at that aspect as pat1 of the sale ground of appeal 

of the 2nd Accused, 

[521 [he State docs !Jot use the term 'inconsistent verdict' in the ground of appeal it 

has raised although it is stated that 'it was no! reasunahly open to have acquitted 

Rasheed Khan having regard to theftlcr thaI C(Jltrl had convicted Kat', 

[53J The State acknowledges in its written submissions that 'the "crdiels appear to be 

odd given Ihal Kal was ,'onvicled on a CO lint of engaging wilh the respondelll to 

import tire very same heroin tflat tfle respondent wa.s' acquitted of importing' 

(emphasis added), 

[541 Whilst taking up this somewhat contradictory position, it is their submission that 

'the verdiels (Ire not inconsistent or, at leasl, lin}' logical inconsistency is not such 

as to render Kai~' conviction unsafe " 

155] I have already referred to and dealt with the importance of a summing up and 

hence will not venture to repeat it here except to say that I will be dealing with 

that aspect here as well since that becomes a pivotal issue in this appeal. 

Directions ofthe trial judge in his summing up 

[56] The learned trial judge has referred to the elements of the two offences in his 

summing up (at Volume I of the Copy record pages 90 - 168) from paragraphs 16 

- 27 and states that:-

"The term impol'/ also cOllnotes Ihal the person \,,,,,ho was involved in slIch 
activity had the knowledge or the belief'thal he hroughl or caused 10 he 
hrouRhl any illicit drugs" (paragraph 19), 
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'According(v, the proseclIlion is required to prove beyond reasonable 
doubt Iha/ the firsT accused person has imported 29.9 kilograms of illicit 
drugs namely Heroin and {he first accused had the knowledge or belief 
that what he had imported if an illicit drug' (emphasis added. at 
paragraph 22). 

'Apart from the second element which is "engages in dealing with any 
other person" the remaining elements arefinmded on the same definitions 
and the principles that [ have explained above with regard to the firsl 
count. In order to prove tIle element of "engages ill dealing witl, allY 
other person", the proseclltion is required to present evidence that the 
accused has involved with another person in any ope/l Qr covered 
illteractiun to import all midt drug into till! country • 
(emphasis added, at paragraph 26) 

Accordingly, it is the onus of" the prosecution 10 prove beyond 
reasonable doubl tllat EtJrall K ai has engagefl in dealillg with 
Mohammed Shaheed Khan to import 29,9 kilograms Q/ illicit drugs 
namely 'Heroin' (emphasis added at paragraph 27). 

[571 The learned High COllrt judge under the heading 'Analysis of Evidence' has 

opined that '[11 other words, the prosecution case is founded on circumstantial 

evidence' and has given a brief overview as to what circumstantial evidence is (at 

paragraph 211). He: has once again engaged in a discussion pertaining to 

circumstantial evidence at paragraphs 231 - 233. 

1581 He has thereafter gone on to observe that-

'The circumstantial evidence rhal the prosecution is seeking 10 rely in Ihis 
insiant case is [hut, 

(1) Importation of/he comainer No, TGHU0623796 andf!>ur wooden 
boxes into Fiji by the/irs! accused person, 

(If) The contents found inside the four wooden boxes in the said 
container, 

(III) The knowledge of the first tJnd the second accused person of the 
importation of/his illicit drug' (at paragnlph 212), 

[591 Thereafter he concludes by telling the assessors to consider aU the evidence 

presented during the course of the hearing and if they believe and arc satisfied that 

the prosecution has failed to prove beyond reasonable doubt thaI the 1st accused 

has committed the offence, they must find him 'not guilty' and also that if they are 

satisfied that the prosecution has proved beyond reasonable doubt that the I" 
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ac):used has committed the offence. they must tind him 'guilty" (at paragraphs 238 

-239). 

[601 An identical direction has been given in respect of the 2nd Accused (at paragraphs 

240 -241). 

[611 HoweveL most importantly. there is no direction with regard to how they should 

approach and arrive at a decision in the event they lind the I" Accllsed 'not 

guiltv' . , . 
Mattel'~ as discussed bv the trial judge in his judgment 

[62J Bearing in mind the difrerence betwecn jury trials in other jurisdictions and trials 

with assessors in Fiji. I will also advert to the judgment with reasons delivered by 

111<:: karned High Court Judge. 

[631 At the very outset. the learned High Court Judge has referred to the opinions of the 

lour assessors. He notes that as far as the 151 Accused was concerned it was a split 

opinion in that two assessors returned an opinion tbat he was guilty while the 

other two were of lhe opinion that he was 'not guilty'. With regard to the 2"d 

Accused it was a unanimous opinion of 'guilty'. Having observed that the opinion 

of the assessors was not perverse and that it was open to them to reach such 

conclusion. hc has gone on to pronounce his judgment (at parab'l'aph J). 

[64] He then goes on to exanline the charges. their elements, the required proof and has 

engaged in an analysis of the evidence. He has thereafter concluded that 'the 

prosecution has fililed fV prove beyond reasonable douhl that the first accused 

person had a knowledge or beliellhm the imported consignment under his name 

cO/llained any illicit drugs in it '. 

[651 He has then rden'ed to the evidence in respect of the 2nd Accused and has arrived 

at the conclusion that 'In view qr Ihe evidence presented by the prosecution in 

respect ofri7J! second accused person, it appears that Iflhe evidence presented by 

Ihe pro.\'l!c!l1ion is comidered as a whole, it/cads ((l indisputah/e and inescapable 
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conclusion that the second accused person had engaged in dealings with 

Mohammed Shaheed Khan {() import [his consignmen{ and had knowledge and 

belie/that what was imported in this consignment cOIl/llined illidl drugs. II does 

IlOt lead to llily other probable conclusions and inferences showing the innocence . 
of the second accusedperson ' (at paragraph 53). 

[66] On that basis, he has expressed the OplnlOil that the prosecution has proved 

beyond reasonable doubt that the 20d Accused has committed the offence with 

which he was charged. 

[67] He further states that he sees no cogent reason to disagree with the 'verdict of not 

guilty' of the two assessors in respect ofthcfirst count and the 'unanimous verdict 

of guilty' in respeet of the second count. 

[681 Accordingly he has acquitted the 1st Accused and convicted the 2nd Accused. 

[691 It .must be pointed out that like in the summing up, there is no discussion of the 

impact a 'not guilty' verdict of th.e 1" Accused would have on the guilt or 

otherwise of the 2nd Accused. 

Was tbere a non direction to the assessors bv tbe High Court Judge? 

[70J Since the nature of the ofl'ences become critical for the detenl1llation as to 

whether there was a non-direction by the learned High Court Judge. 1 will 

reproduce here. the Intonnation that had been presented against the two Accused. 

[t was as tollows: 

'COUNT I 

SiUlemenlor0.tlimee 

UNLAWFUL Il..,[PORTATION OF ILLICIT DRUG, Contrary ro section 
./(1) oj'the ILLICIT DRUGS CONTROL ACT. 2004. 
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Particulars af<dfence 

j\;fOHA/vf}vIED SHA HEED KHAN between Ihe /'" day (!f December 20/4 
and 21" day or Dec-ember 201-1 al Lau/aka in the Western Division, 
imponed 29,9 kilograms of illicit drugs namely [[ERlo/IV wirhoul lawrit! 
authority, 

COUNT 2 

Sialemen/ of Offence 

UNLA WFUL [iv/PORTA nON OF ILLICIT DRUG; Contrary to sec/ion 
5(h) or/he ILLICIT DRUGS CONTROL AC'l: 200-1, 

['arriculars oto/lence 

ETKIN KHAI between Ihe f" day oj'Decemher 201-1 and] /" dqy of' 
Decemher 20 f -I al f.auwka in the Western Division, wilhout Imv/itl 
authority engaged in dealing willI MOHAA4MED SHAHEED KFfANfilr 
{he imporl 01'29,9 kilograms (l(illicil drugs name(v HERJOIN ' 

17l] It has been submitted on behalf of [he 2"d Accused that 'I/Ilie Stale '.\' case can be 

assumed IU be IhaI MI'. Khan. Ihe consignee und lhe Appellunl \Fere ill Ihis 

fOgelher, {hen the absence of {he nl!ce,\'Sal}, .I'll/It elemenl '1/ know/edge would 

illvCll'i(lh()' mean the absenee of'the same in (he other, The case for the Slale was a 

join! enterprise, '"'ili1outlhejimnai reFerence to it in the illtill'ln<llion " 
, 

[721 It has funher been contended that They are said to engage in dealing (logether) 

jor the imporl of'illicit drugs, The State has jusr preferred not to charge them 

together in the same coun!. But if doesn '/ remove the basis and the scheme of their 

proseclIliol1 case '. 

[73] It has also been submitted that 'We say ifthe limb on which slich ullegalionj{liled 

againsl Mr, Khan, thenlhe remainir(f!; allegations ({gains! Mr, Khai, callnot stand. 

Becallse Ihe charge presumes common design hy the parties in/heir cl1g-ug-emel1l', 

[741 Unfortunately the State has not countered the above position that the 2"d Accused 

has taken up in the written submissions that had been tiled on his behalf. Neither 
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has the State explained its position with regard to the charges that had been 

preferred against the two Accused in their written submissions. 

[75] The only explanation offered during the hearing before us by the learned counsel 

for the State was that it was convenient for the State to have cbarged both 

Accused under one Information lest it would have resulted in the sante evidence 

being presented twice in different proceedings. 

[76~J Leamed counsel for tho: State submitted that she was LUlahle to explain the 

rationale for the choice of the charges or the reasons for the consolidation of the 

charges since she was not involved in such decision making. Her submission \VaS 

since a decisiOIl has been taken by the State to charge the two Accused in that 

manner, it cannot IlOW resile from that decision alld say that it would have been 

more appropriate if charges had been preferred in any other manner. 

[77] Prior to the tiling of the Information upon which the trial proceeded, the State had 

tiled two separate Informations against the two accused in dilIerent courts. The 

consolidation of the charges into one Informatioll happelled later. 

[78J At the time the consolidation was done. both accused raised objectiolls and made 

applicatiolls for separate trials. J~laving heard counsel for the two accused and the 

State. the leamed trial judge made a Ruling on 23 .lune 20 I 5 whereby the said 

applicatiolls were refused and the prosecution was aUowed to proceed against both 

accused in one Information (at page 294 of the Copy Record, Volume I). 

[79] The learned trial judge in the said Ruling, having referred 10 the offences 

contained in the Information and having identified the elements of the two 

offences that the prosecution was required to prove. observed that; 

'Accordingly, it appears that the two cOllnls againsr these two accused 
persons are founded on the samefiJcts or transaction' (paragraph 8 of the 
Ruling). 
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[80] The trial judge has then referred to Section 60 of the Criminal Procedure Act 

which spells OLlt the basis for joinder of charges. I will reproduce here Section 60. 

It reads as follows; 

'The following persons may he joined in one charge or mfhrmaliOI1 and 

may be Iried {ogelher 

(a) Persons acclised of the same o/fer,,'/! committed in the course or Ihe 

same transaction; 
(h) PersoF/s accused ulan offence and persons accllsed or~ 

Ii} aiding or ahelling the commission urthe ojfimel': or 
(ii) allempting to commil an ojrence: 

(c) Persons accused of different otlimces provided thut all offences are 
/(JUF/ded on (he sam!! facts, or ji1rm or Clrc parr cd' a series or oflimces 
of Ihe same or similar character: Clnd 

(dj Persolls acclised of'difrerenl a/renees commlrted in the course or the 
same transactio//. ' 

r 81] With regard to the joinder of charges. he observed in his Rul ing that; 

'The learned counsel (iJl' {he prosecution slated in her suhmissiwL, dlat 
Ihey will adduce evide"cl! to prove the jllteract;on of the second accused 
persall with the fir.51 accilsed and also wilh the person who allegedly sent 
Ihis consignment to Fiji. She ./ilrther suhmitted that (he prosecution will 
present evidence in the form ()r records of phone clnlwl:mlions. eeTV 
jiwtages and other documents in order to prove the guift !f' these two 
accused persons' (emphasis added, at paragraph 17 of the Ruling). 

[82 J In the absence of any explanation from the State with regard to the basis on which 

the charges had been preferred I find the above to be an indication of its thinking 

behind the lorwarding of charges in that manner. 

183] The learned High Court Judge has observed as tallows; 

'Accordingly. the admissihle evidence in respect (r/ riJl! .first count is thai 
(he jirsr accused has UI1111wf!d(I' imponed Ihe illicit drugs as mentioned in 
the information. The admissible evidence ji)r the second COUIII is Ihat the 
second accl/sed has unlawjitlly imported the illicit drugs ami in doillg so, 
lie has engaged in dealillg with the firn accused' (emphasis added. at 
paragraph 18 ofthe Ruling). 
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'ffaving comidered the reasons discussed CdlOV!! and the judicial 
proceedings mentioned above, it is my opinion that no prejudice will cause 
to the two accused persons in a joint trial that cannot be cured by dear 
direction.\' to the assessors (0 consider Ehe evidence aguinst (!(Jch acclised 
separately. Specially in tlJe event tllat the involvement of tile dealillgs of 
the first accused constitlltes one of tire main composition of the second 
count. It is my opinion that a joint trial willneces~'jtate more IU' it allows 
to determine the entire allegation at ollce' (emphasis added, at paragraph 
19 ofihe Ruling) 

'As discussed above, tlte dealing with tlJe first acclued per,~on is an 
important compollent in tlte second COUllt alld it is important to Itear the 
seconl/ count together with tlJe first acclued, I find the inter~sf If/justicl! 
10 hear this (rialjointiy is overwhelmingly greater than the right to remain 
silem' (emphasis added, at paragraph n of the Rltling). 

[84] The above observations clearly demonstrate the view the learned trial judge held 

of the charges and the rationale for trying the two accused together under one 

Information, 

[85] It 1s in this backdrop that this court will have to consider as to whether the learned 

High Court Judge had been remiss in discharging his duty to properly direct the 

assessors in order for them to have arrived at a legally valid opinioI1 regarding the 

guilt of the two Accused, 

[861 [n the case ofDPP v Woolminton (19351 All ER L it was stated that the golden 

rule in any criminal case is that the prosecution needed to prove beyond 

reasonable doubt, each and every element of the offence. 

[87J The otTences were of such na,ure that they were connected to each other, The 

second count being one of the 2nd Accused 'engaging in dealing' with the pI 

Accused in the importation of the quantity of Heroin meant that the outcome of 

the tirst count had a bearing on the second c()unt 

[88] Learned counsel for the 2"" Accused, in his written submissions has stated that 

'i'vJSK was acquitted because as far as he was concerned he was importing used 

ryres and motorbikes. Thus any dealings MSK had with Ihe appellant was in 
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relation to importing those items. How can the appellant then he lillilty 0( 

importing illicit drugs il all his dealing with MSK relared to the used lyres and 

quad bikes. evidenced by MSK '.I' acquirlal? It is submitted that because of the way 

the charlies were Famed including the elements of the ojjimce. :'v!SK amI Ihe 

AppeIlal1l sland orflill rogether '. 

[89J He also states as follows; 'On "ppeal it is submitted fhar it was not enough to 

show the appeilant had knowledge, As an eielnent qf the qtjenee beil1li charged, 

the S'Wle need TO also establish thal MSK had knowledge when he was meeting 

and calling {he appellant, which they could 110/ do so resu/ril1g In his aequilta/. 

However. the logic in Ihal is thai kl10wledge ol (he named person JI.fSK was a/so 

needed to he established to Cliver the element altfw o.tlimce '. 

[901 As referred to earlier, a perusal of the summing up and the judgment reveal that 

the 1 Sl Accused was found 'not guilty' on the basis that he had no knowledge that 

the container he imported contained 29,9 kilograms of Heroin, The 2nd Accused 

was charged on the basis that he 'engaged in dealing' with the tirst accused in 

importing the same quantity of Heroin, So if the 1" Accused in effect did not 

import the said quantity of heroin, could the 2'1<1 Accused have engaged in dealing 

with him in such importation? 

[91] There was no charge of conspiracy against the two Accused and the 2nd Accused 

has neither been charged on the basis that he had aided and abetted the I" 

Accused in the importation of the said quantity of Heroin, Criminal law imposes 

distinct liability on accused who are charged for conspiracy and for aiding and 

abetting, In the charg<: against the 2nd Accused, it is specifically referred to his 

having "engaged in dealing' with the 1" Accused, In my view, the liability of the 

2"d Accused could not have stood separated li'OlTI that ufthe I" Accused. 

[921 As explained earlier in this judgment, the learned trial judge was aware of the 

nature of the offences and as to why they were included in one lnfonnation since 

he had looked into that aspect and made a pronouncement at the very 

commencement. 
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[93] Therefore, making reference to the two oftences separately and directing the 

assessors with regard to ingredients, evidenc~ culpability and burden of proof 

separately witbout any reference to the nexus between the two charges was not a 

proper direction. It amounts to a non-direction. 

[94 J The impact the verdict of 'not guilty' of the l't Accused had on the 2nd Accused 

had to be explained atld a proper direction had to be given to the assessors. As 

referred to earlier. he had already decided that 'the dealing with the first accused 

person is an important component ill the second count and it is importwu to hear 

the secolld count IOgether with the first accused (at paragraph 22 of the Ruling). . . 

Inconsistent verdicts 

[95] As already adverted to, the position taken up on behalf ofthe 2nd Accused is that 

the verdicts are inconsistent in that it was not logical to have found the 2nd 

Accused 'glIBty' after having decided that the I st Accused was • not gUilty'. The 

issue then arises as to whether the verdicts are inconsistent and the trial may have 

miscarried as a result of the failure to give any direction to the assessors on this 

material point. 

[96 J The learned counsel for the 2nd Respondent has relied on the cases of Balemaira v 

State [2013] FJSC 17, CAV0008 of 2013 (6 November, 2013) and Vulaca v 

§j.!!!! [2013J FJSC 16: CAV0005.2011 (21 November 2013) in support of its 

position that the verdicts were inconsistent. In both cases, the Supreme Court 

relied on the well known case of Mackenzie v R (1996) 190 CLR 348 decided by 

the High Court of Australia. 

[97J In Vulaca; the Supreme Court opined as follows; 

'As was observed by Ihe High Court q/AlISlralia in Mackenzie v R (1996) 
190 eLR 348, tJl 366-7 [Guudron, Gummow and Kirby ,IJ], the tes/thal is 
applied in dealing with queslions of incol1sistent verdicts. "is OIl/! of 
logiclll reasonllbleness". 111 the course of its judgment, Ihe High Caul'/ of 
A uslralia cited a pilssage in an unrepol'led judgment of Devlin J in R v 
Stone (I3 December [954), to the ~fj'ecl thill an accllsed who Q.levcrts lhac 
two verdicts are in(,()l1.I'istelll with each other. "must salisfy the caliri thaI 
the two verdicts cannot slfmd logelher ,(emphasis added). 
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[98J In Balemaira, the Supreme Court stated thilt; 

'Although these cases involved mUltiple dejimdanls with different verdicts 
on the same charge, the nature of the! inquiry is the same in cases where 
one defendant is charged with multiple offences of similar nwure. ThaI 
inquil)' was aptly described in rhe Canadian case (i R v Mc Shannock 
(1980) 44 CCC (UI 53 (Ont C.AI at p.56 as jiJl/ows; "vI/hen' on any 
realistic' view of the evidence, the verdicts cannot be reconciled on any 
rational or logical basis the illogicality of'rhe verdicllends to indicllle that 
the jury must have been cOI1{i.lsed as 10 [he evidence or must have reached 
some sort of unjustifiable compromise. We would, on (he ground that the 
verdict is unreasonable alone, aI/ow the appeal, sel aside the verdict, and 
direct an acquittal 10 be entered '. 

(991 The case of M.ackenzie whicb as Slated above, has been relied upon by the 

Supreme Court of Fiji, becomes directly relevant to this case. It dealt with 

inconsistent verdicts as welt as inadequate directions to the jury which are matters 

[hat have been raised in this case as well. 

[1001 With regard to inconsistent verdicts, the High Court of Australia in that case 

observed that; 

'Oll the other hand while ordinarily ajury is as inscrulable as Ihe Sphynx. 
somelimes. by series (i verdicts or. where permitled, answers 10 Ijucslions 
posed by the Judge, Ihere is pla,'ed on Ibe public record an insight into [he 
jwy's thinking This does not arise unlawfully or irregularly. If the rc,'uil 
of this insight is 10 cast doubt upon the verdict ullder considerarioll, 
because logically it CCi/mol stand logel her with allother verdici. {he court is 
then confronted l~v a problem oljustice. The high respec[ paid 10 jury 
verdicts is reinforced by a general appreCiation o(their usual correClI1ess. 
However, where. in a particular cuse, doubt {,I' cast upon a verdh/I, em 
appellate courl invited to do S0, must determine whether il should 
intervene. In a criminal appeal, il must decide whether the conviction 
based upon the wrdl,,'/ which is impugned Lv unsafe or unsati.ljactory, . 

[1 () 1 J [hey went on to express the view that; 

' . .4. distinction mm! be drawn hetween cases of legal or technical 
inconsistency and cases Ilf suggested .factual inconsistency. The je,rmel' 
will general(v be easier to resolve. On the jilt:e of the courl '.I' record there 
will be two verdicts which in law, canno! sl1lnd logether. Examples include 
the case where the accused was convicted hOlh oIan attempt to commit el/1 
offence and {he completed ({fJimee or 1if' being, in respect of the same 
property and occasion, both the thirt/ami the receive. There are other like 
cases. Where technical or legal inconsistency is established, it ml1st be 
inferred thaI the jury misunderstood lire jlj(~f!;e 's directions on the law; 
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compromised di.lputes among themselves; 01' otherwise fell inw an 
unidentifiable error. The impugned verdict or verdicts must be set aside 
and appropriate consequential orders made' (at page 82). 

[102] Court however observed that 'But once again, the relief which is appropriate 

depends upon the/acls of the particular case' (at page 85). 

[103] In view of my analysis above, I am of the view that the inconsistency in this 

appeal is a legal inconsistency since it emanates from the nature of the offences. 

Therefore. there is no necessity to go into and examine the evidence that was led 

at the triaL 

[l04J Applying the lest of 'logical reasonahleness' as propounded in Mackenzie, ram 

of the view that there is an inconsistency in the verdicts. This in effect is what 

both the State in their appeal as well as the 2nd Accused in his appeal raised as 

grounds of appeaL I answer those grounds inlhe affirmative. 

Failure to give proper dirl!ctions to the as!lcssors 

[105J With regard to the failure to give adequate directions to the jury, in Mackenzie, 

court expressed the view that; 

'The jll1:JI there/ore considered their verdicl withoul thai assistance, In our 
view It Wl/S a matter upon which assistance ought to have been given. The 
failure to give it (particularly when the problem was exprr:ssly rai.yed wilk 
Ihe judge) is one which. in the circumstances of this case, occasioned a 
miscarriage ofiustice' (at page 90-91). 

[106] Court further opined that; 

'W11ere an appeal succeeds upon the hasis that the trial miscarried 
because of all inacc:urare ar inadequate dirl!ction to ajury, it is ordinarily 
appropriate to order that there be a re-tria! which il will be assumed, will 
be conducted in accordance with the law as clarified'\ at page 91). 

[107] The above, I consider to be useful guidance to this court. 
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Conclusion 

[108] In this case, the fuilure of the trial judge to give proper directions to the assessors 

on the impact of the 1" AccLlsed being found 'not guilty'. considering the nature 

of the ofttmccs. in my view rendered the verdict unreasonable and unsafe. It has 

occasioned a miscarriage of justice. 

[109] The conviction therefore should not stand since it violates the concept of a fair 

trial. 

[110] lL must be emphasized here that as staled earlier, the State also raised thc issue of 

inconsistent verdicts and sought to apply that in order to have the acquittal of the 

1" Accused overturned. However. responding to the appeal of the 2nd Accused. 

the State submitted that there was no logical inconsistency so as to rend.:r the 

conviction of the 2nd Accused unsafe. I find this hard to reconcile. 

1111] The next question to be decided is as to what the decision of this court should be 

in regard to the appeal of the 2nd Accused. Should it be an acquittal or should a 

new trial be ordered considering the totality of the circumstances. [n determining 

this, I cannot ignore the hTfOllnds on which I have arrived at a decision pertaining 

to the State's appeal. 

f112] 1 have already decided in the appeal filed by the State that the acquittal of the 1" 

Accused ought to be quashed on the basis that the trial against him was miscarried 

due to a misdirection of the trial judge. 

[113] Therefore. there cannot be an acquittal of the 2nd Accused. for reasons explained 

by me, I have concluded that the conviction of the 20d Accused was unreasonable 

and unsafe. The conviction of the :;."d Accused therefore has to be quashed. 

[114] What next after the quashing of the acquittal of the 1" Accused and the conviction 

of the 2nd Accused" The only logical option available to this court is to order a 
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new trial against both ACCllsed. In arriving at this decision, I have drawn 

inspiration from Ihe auIhorities referred to by me in this judgment. 

[1151 Accordingly the Judgment of the High Court dated 10 September 2015 is set 

aside. The acquittal of the I" Accused and Ihe conviction of Ihe 2nd Accused are 

quashed. A. new trial is ordered against boIh. Accused. 

[116] The new trial is to take place before a different judge of the High Court within a 

reasonable time. 

Mataitoga, .fA 

[I OJ] I agree with the reasons and the conclusions in the judgment. 

Oetaki. JA 

[104] [have considered the judgment in draft and I agree with it, its reasoning and 

orders. 

Tile Orders o[the C(Jurt: 

I. Both Appeals are allowed. 

2. The Judgment of the High Court dated 10 September 2015 is set aside. 

3. AcqUittal of the Respondei'll (Mohammed Shaheed Khan) in AAU 122 of 2015 is 

set aside. 

4. Conviclion and sentence q(the Appel/ant (Ethan Kat) in AAU 1230(2015 are set 

aside. 

5. A new trial to be held in respect of hoth the Respondent (Mohammed Shaheed 

Khanj in AAU 122 0/2015 and the Appellant (Ethan Kat) in Aii U 123 o/20J 5. 
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6. The Prison Au/horilies arc directed tv produce the Appellant (Ethan Kai) in AAU 

123 of 20 15 he fore Ihe High Courl on or h~j()re II August 2023 and unti/then he 

shall he kept in remalld custody. 

Hon .. usticc Viraj I)ayaratnc 
JUSTICE OF APPEAL 

Hon. Ju ce Isikeli Mataitoga 
/ JUSn E Of APPE~L 

L, \ 

I 

Hon .. Justice Alipatc Qetaki 
JUSTICE OF APPEAL 
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